
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

MEETING OF THE LEICESTER, LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND POLICE 
AND CRIME PANEL 
 
DATE: MONDAY, 14 FEBRUARY 2022  
TIME: 12:00 pm 
PLACE: Committee Meeting room G01, Ground Floor, City Hall, 115 

Charles Street, Leicester 
 
 
Members of the Panel 
Councillor Taylor (Chair) 
Councillor Master (Vice-Chair) 
 
Councillors Clair, Cutkelvin, Graham, Harper-Davies, Loydall, Mullaney, 
Phillimore, Stephenson, Whelband and Woodman and City Mayor Sir Peter 
Soulsby 
 
 
Independent Members 
Ms Parisha Chavda 
Ms Salma Manzoor 
 
Members of the Panel are invited to attend the above meeting to consider the 
items of business listed overleaf. 
 

 
For Monitoring Officer 
 
 
 

Officer contacts: 
  

Anita James (Democratic Support Officer), 
Tel: 0116 4546358, e-mail: committees@leicester.gov.uk 

Leicester City Council, 3rd Floor Granby Wing, City Hall, 115 Charles Street 

 



 

 

Information for members of the public 
 
Attending meetings and access to information 

You have the right to attend formal meetings such as full Council, committee meetings, and 
Scrutiny Commissions and see copies of agendas and minutes. On occasion however, 
meetings may, for reasons set out in law, need to consider some items in private. 
Due to COVID 19, public access in person is limited to ensure social distancing. We would 
encourage you to view the meeting online but if you wish to attend in person, you are 
required to contact the Democratic Support Officer in advance of the meeting regarding 
arrangements for public attendance. A guide to attending public meetings can be found on 
the Decisions, meetings and minutes page of the Council website. 
 
Members of the public can follow a live stream of the meeting on the Council’s website at 
http://www.leicester.public-i.tv/core/portal/webcasts 
 
Dates of meetings and copies of public agendas and minutes are available on the Council’s website 
at www.cabinet.leicester.gov.uk, from the Council’s Customer Service Centre or by contacting us 
using the details below.  
 
Making meetings accessible to all 
Wheelchair access – Public meeting rooms at the City Hall are accessible to wheelchair users.  
Wheelchair access to City Hall is from the middle entrance door on Charles Street - press the plate on 
the right hand side of the door to open the door automatically. 
 
Braille/audio tape/translation - If you require this please contact the Democratic Support Officer 
(production times will depend upon equipment/facility availability). 
 
Induction loops - There are induction loop facilities in City Hall meeting rooms.  Please speak to the 
Democratic Support Officer using the details below. 
 
Filming and Recording the Meeting - The Council is committed to transparency and supports efforts to 
record and share reports of proceedings of public meetings through a variety of means, including 
social media.  In accordance with government regulations and the Council’s policy, persons and press 
attending any meeting of the Council open to the public (except Licensing Sub Committees and where 
the public have been formally excluded) are allowed to record and/or report all or part of that meeting.  
Details of the Council’s policy are available at www.leicester.gov.uk or from Democratic Support. 
 
If you intend to film or make an audio recording of a meeting you are asked to notify the relevant 
Democratic Support Officer in advance of the meeting to ensure that participants can be notified in 
advance and consideration given to practicalities such as allocating appropriate space in the public 
gallery etc.. 
 
The aim of the Regulations and of the Council’s policy is to encourage public interest and 
engagement so in recording or reporting on proceedings members of the public are asked: 
 to respect the right of others to view and hear debates without interruption; 
 to ensure that the sound on any device is fully muted and intrusive lighting avoided; 
 where filming, to only focus on those people actively participating in the meeting; 
 where filming, to (via the Chair of the meeting) ensure that those present are aware that they 

may be filmed and respect any requests to not be filmed. 
Further information  
If you have any queries about any of the above or the business to be discussed, please contact: 
Anita James, Democratic Support on 0116 4546358.  Alternatively, email 
committees@leicester.gov.uk, or call in at City Hall. 
 
For Press Enquiries - please phone the Communications Unit on 0116 454 4151. 
 

http://www.leicester.public-i.tv/core/portal/webcasts
http://www.cabinet.leicester.gov.uk/
http://www.leicester.gov.uk/


 

 

PUBLIC SESSION 
 

AGENDA 
 
NOTE: Due to the ongoing COVID19 pandemic, public access in person is limited to 
mitigate risk of transmission and ensure social distancing. We would encourage you 
to view the meeting online but if you wish to attend in person, you are required to 
contact the Democratic Support Officer in advance of the meeting regarding 
arrangements for public attendance. 
 

Separate guidance on attending the meeting is available for officers. Officers 
attending the meeting are asked to contact the Democratic Support Officer 
in advance to confirm their arrangements for attendance. 
 
This meeting will be webcast live at this link:  
https://leicester.publici.tv/core/portal/home 
 
An archive copy of the webcast will normally be available on the Council’s website 
within 48 hours of the meeting taking place at the following link: -  
 
http://www.leicester.public-i.tv/core/portal/webcasts 

 
 
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

 

 Members will be asked to declare any pecuniary or other interests they have in 
the business on the agenda.  
 

3. PROPOSED POLICE AND CRIME PLAN 2021 TO 2025  
 

Item 3 

 Members to receive a report presenting the draft Police and Crime Plan for 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland covering the period 2021 to 2025 in 
accordance with sections 5 & 7 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility 
Act 2011. 
 
Members will be asked to consider the draft Police and Crime Plan for 2021 – 
25 for approval and make any comments or recommendations on the proposed 
plan to the Police and Crime Commissioner.  
 

4. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS  
 

 

5. DATE OF NEXT MEETING  
 

 

 To note the date of the next scheduled meeting on Monday 4th April 2022 at 
1pm to take place at County Hall, Glenfield.  
 

 

http://www.leicester.public-i.tv/core/portal/webcasts




 

1 
 

POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR LEICESTERSHIRE 

POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 

 
Report of POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER  

 
Date MONDAY, 14TH FEBRUARY 2022 AT 12PM 

 
Subject PROPOSED POLICE AND CRIME PLAN 2021-25 

 
Author  
 

DAVID PEET, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER, OFFICE OF THE 
POLICE & CRIME COMMISISONER 
 
 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. To present the draft Police & Crime Plan for Leicester, Leicestershire & Rutland to 

cover the period 2021-25 in accordance with sections 5 & 7 of the Police Reform 
and Social Responsibility Act 2011(PRSRA) 

 
Recommendations 
 
2. The Panel is asked to: 
 

a. Consider the draft Police and Crime Plan 2021-25 
 

b. Ask any questions and make any report and/or recommendation on the 
proposed Plan for the Police and Crime Commissioner’s consideration 

 

c. Subject to any report or recommendations made under paragraph 2(b), that the 
Plan be adopted and published via the Police and Crime Commissioner’s 
website. 

 

Executive Summary  
 
3.1 The Police and Crime Plan is the primary document that outlines the focus and 

priorities for policing in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. 
 
3.2 It sets out the strategic priorities for policing whilst acknowledging the operational 

independence of the Chief Constable, as outlined in the Policing Protocol Order 
2011 (as amended). 

 
3.3 Following his election in May 2021 the Police and Crime Commissioner has 

developed commitments made during the election into the Police and Crime 
Plan. 

 
3.2 The Plan reflects the concerns and priorities of the public, shared during the 

election campaign and subsequently, and provides focus for the police. 

1

Item 3



 

2 
 

 
3.3 Following the publication of the Police and Crime Plan there will be an 

expectation on the Force to produce a delivery plan against which the Police and 
Crime Commissioner will monitor for performance and hold the Chief Constable 
to account for delivery against the plan. 

 
Legal context 
 
4.1 Section 7 of the PRSRA requires the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) to 

produce a Police & Crime Plan that covers the following matters:  
 
(a) The elected local policing body’s police and crime objectives;  
(b) The policing of the police area which the chief officer of police is to provide;  
(c) The financial and other resources which the elected local policing body is to 
provide to the chief officer of police for the chief officer to exercise the functions 
of chief officer; (d) The means by which the chief officer of police will report to 
the elected local policing body on the chief officer’s provision of policing;  
(e) The means by which the chief officer of police’s performance in providing 
policing will be measured;  
(f) The crime and disorder reduction grants which the elected local policing body 
is to make, and the conditions (if any) to which such grants are to be made. 
(PRSRA s.7 (1))  

 
4.2  Before issuing or varying a police and crime plan, the commissioner must:  
 

(a) Prepare a draft of the plan or variation;  
(b) Consult the relevant chief constable in preparing the draft plan or variation;  
(c) Send the draft plan or variation to the relevant police and crime panel;  
(d) Have regard to any report or recommendation made by the panel in relation 
to the draft plan or variation;  
(e) Give the panel a response to any such report or recommendations, and;  
(f) Publish any such response. (PRSRA s.5(6))  

 
4.3  The new Police and Crime Plan must be issued within the financial year in which 

the ‘ordinary election’ is held - in this case by the 5th April 2022.  
 
4.4  It should be noted that due to the postponement the PCC elections in 2020 due 

to Covid-19 this plan covers a 4 year period, rather than the usual 5 as the PCC 
term of office is 3 years rather than the usual 4.  

 
4.5  The commissioner has a duty to keep the plan under review. 
 
Draft Plan 
 
5.1 The Police and Crime Commissioner has, pursuant to duties outlined above, 

prepared a draft Police and Crime Plan, available at Appendix 1 of this report. 
 
5.2 The Police and Crime Commissioner has engaged with the Chief Constable, and 

his senior team, during the development of the plan, and has sought feedback on 
its contents. 

 

2



 

3 
 

5.3 As part of the development process the Police and Crime Commissioner 
undertook a consultation exercise with residents of the City and two counties, the 
results of which can be found at Appendix 2 of this report. 

 
5.4 The Panel should note that the report at Appendix A is the text of the report, 

subject to any feedback from the Police and Crime Panel the document will then 
go through a design process to produce a final version including design and 
photography. 

 
 
 
Publication 
 
6.1 Subject to the outcome of this meeting the Police and Crime Commissioner 

intends to publish the Police and Crime Plan via the PCC website, with some 
hard copied being produced.  

 
6.2 Should members of the public wish to receive a ‘hard copy’ of the plan they 

should contact the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner, who will ensure 
that a copy is sent out. 

 
 
Implications 
 

Financial: 
 
 

The budget supports the Force’s delivery against the Police 
and Crime Plan. 

Legal: 
 
 

The Commissioner is required to set produce a Police and 
Crime plan, and keep the plan under review. 

Equality - 
Impact 
Assessment: 
 
 

Once agreed the Plan will be accompanied by a full Equality 
Impact Assessment.  

Risks and –
Impact: 
 

Risks have been identified within the report. 

 

 

 
List of Appendices 
 
Appendix 1             Draft Police and Crime Plan 
Appendix 2             Results of Public Survey on the proposed Police and Crime Plan 
 
 
Persons to Contact 
 
Mr. David Peet Chief Executive Officer, Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 
 
Email: david.peet@leics.pcc.pnn.gov.uk 
 
 

3

mailto:david.peet@leics.pcc.pnn.gov.uk


 

4 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix 1 

DRAFT 

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Crime Plan 

 

A police and crime plan for efficient, robust and professional policing in 

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. 

2021-2025 

Executive Summary 

More Policing is Good. Better Policing is Better. 

For far too long the debate over policing has been dominated by talk of inputs, not of 

outputs. In his basic principles of Policing, Sir Robert Peel summed this up when he 

stated “The test of police efficiency is the absence of crime and disorder not the visible 

evidence of police action in dealing with it.” As the PCC I will expect tangible outcomes 

to the investment in policing and the wider criminal justice system.  

In recent years, and in Leicestershire in particular, this has led to the focus being on 

numbers of police officers. But the sheer number of police officers is not the only factor. 

We could double or even treble the number of police officers, but if they do not have the 

infrastructure to deliver high quality policing such as cars, radios and computers to 

promote agile working they would not be very effective in fighting the modern criminal.  

  

Crime is changing and criminals are more resourceful and sophisticated than ever 

before therefore policing needs to remain on the cutting edge of technology and 

continue to modernise to remain effective.  

4



 

5 
 

  

This plan is about making the policing of Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland effective, 

modern and sustainable.  

  

The Leicestershire Police, which also covers Leicester and Rutland is already a highly 

regarded police force in England and Wales. But that does not mean that it cannot get 

better and strive to be one of the top performing forces in the country. There is no doubt 

with the correct equipment, training and leadership directed in the right way with the 

right values we can make a real difference, keep people safe and protect our 

communities.  

  

We need to work with academia, listen to communities and duplicate best practice from 

across the country so that we are as effective as we can be to respond to the issues 

that are affecting the people of our great city and two counties.  

  

The Violence Reduction Network is doing great work to reduce violent crime using a 

public health approach founded on sound research into the root causes of violence in 

our society. We need to undertake equally robust research into other forms of crime and 

identify the best means of tackling them.  

 

Policing needs work with partners and communities to concentrate on real solutions to 

real problems and to steer clear of fashionable theories or empty gestures. Policing has 

always been something of a political football where political intervention and perverse 

target setting undermines the professional decision making of officers and staff on the 

front line. Really effective operational policing requires senior officers to be determined 

to use and support the operational experience of their highly trained officers to drive 

through policing tactics, which used in the right way can help protect our communities 

and ensure the fear of being caught remains with the criminal. We know Stop and 

search has been misused in the past but is a case in point. Some view it as a panacea 

cure for knife crime and drugs, others see it as inherently racist. It is neither. It is an 

essential part of the policing toolkit which, if used properly and based upon evidence 

and good intelligence can deliver impressive results.  

  

Our city and two counties are different places with different problems and different 

priorities, that is why the plan treats them as such. What will work in rural Rutland will 

not work in urban Leicester, so policing tactics need to shape themselves to what will 

work. For that reason, this plan includes separate sections for our city and two counties. 

5



 

6 
 

Serving the public as Police and Crime Commissioner for our area is a great privilege, 

so this plan needs to reflect the diversity of all our communities. 

  

I will be holding the Chief Constable to account for the way in which our area is policed.  

  

Where praise is merited, I will be unstinting and ensure our communities know exactly 

how courageous, inspirational, professional and dedicated our officers and staff are. 

Where things can be improved I will not hesitate to highlight my expectations and 

support the Chief to improve the performance of the force. Working together the Chief 

Constable and Commissioner can make a formidable team.  

  

This Plan embraces not only policing, but also crime prevention and victim support. 

Again, we need to concentrate on what really works. That will sometimes involve taking 

tough decisions and setting priorities. Challenges lie ahead, but they must not be 

shirked. Too much is at stake.  

  

The future must be secure and we must all have mutual aspirations to improve the 

quality of people’s lives. That will mean taking a pragmatic approach to the finances of 

the police and related services. Effective reserves must be established and maintained 

so that we remain sustainable and responsive to the future financial challenges. 

Financing will be focussed upon what needs to be done not just what seems nice to do. 

Good financial management is essential for the future and that is why I will be 

meticulous in holding the force to account for the use of finance and resources.  

  

Above all, this plan is about making life safer for everyone who lives, works or visits 

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland.  

 

Preface 

 

My name is Rupert Matthews and in May 2021 I was elected as the Police and Crime 

Commissioner. I am responsible for the totality of policing as well as providing victim 

support, crime prevention and related service. We are lucky to have such brilliant police 

staff, intelligence analysts, call handlers, detectives, road policing units as well as 

frontline officers, as outlined by recent external inspections, and I cannot do this without 

our them, our communities and our partners.  

6



 

7 
 

 

The job of the police is to protect the public. The job of the Police and Crime 

Commissioner is to give the police the tools they need to do the job. My role is to be the 

voice of the public in matters of policing and crime, to challenge partners, including 

Leicestershire Police, to deliver the public services that the people of Leicester, 

Leicestershire and Rutland deserve. 

 

My vision is clear, I want to work to make an effective, robust and professional police 

service within Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. 

 

As we come out of covid restrictions the public have a right to expect a police force that 

works with them to build back better. I want to see a police force that is closely 

integrated into our diverse communities in city, town and village to support and protect 

the law abiding, to target the anti-social and capture the criminals.  

 

Following the government’s launch of their ‘Beating Crime Plan’, I am fully behind the 
ambitious path laid out by the Government today to restore peace and power within our 
communities.   

What is inherently clear in the Beating Crime Plan is how vital coordination and 

partnerships are to delivering tangible improvements to safety. There needs to be 

greater accountability and stronger community safety partnerships to make any of these 

aspirations happen and I will be ensuring that I do everything in my power to galvanise 

this action here in this county. 

In addition to the ‘Beating Crime Plan’, I shall work with partners to respond to the 

‘Protect Duty’ towards making publicly accessible locations safe as the Government 

develops their response to their consultation. 

My primary responsibility is to hold Chief Constable and the Force to account for 

delivering the policing aspects of this Police and Crime Plan and to ensure they are 

answerable to our communities. My own Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 

[OPCC] will deliver other parts of this Plan.  

I was elected on a clear manifesto to build on the work of my two predecessors as PCC 

to create a modern, dynamic and effective police force and related services. That is 

what I intend to do. This plan shows how I am going to put into action the promises 

made on the election campaign trail. 

The Peelian Principles 

7



 

8 
 

When Sir Robert Peel founded the modern police force nearly 200 years ago he 
developed a set of principles to define the ethical requirements the police must follow to 
be effective. I believe that they are as valid today as they were then.  

1. To prevent crime and disorder, as an alternative to their repression by military 
force and severity of legal punishment. 

2. To recognise always that the power of the police to fulfill their functions and 
duties is dependent on public approval of their existence, actions and behaviour, 
and on their ability to secure and maintain public respect. 

3. To recognise always that to secure and maintain the respect and approval of the 
public means also the securing of the willing co-operation of the public in the task 
of securing observance of laws. 

4. To recognise always that the extent to which the co-operation of the public can 
be secured diminishes proportionately the necessity of the use of physical force 
and compulsion for achieving police objectives. 

5. To seek and preserve public favour, not by pandering to public opinion, but by 
constantly demonstrating absolutely impartial service to law, in complete 
independence of policy, and without regard to the justice or injustice of the 
substance of individual laws, by ready offering of individual service and friendship 
to all members of the public without regard to their wealth or social standing, by 
ready exercise of courtesy and friendly good humour, and by ready offering of 
individual sacrifice in protecting and preserving life. 

6. To use physical force only when the exercise of persuasion, advice and warning 
is found to be insufficient to obtain public co-operation to an extent necessary to 
secure observance of law or to restore order, and to use only the minimum 
degree of physical force which is necessary on any particular occasion for 
achieving a police objective. 

7. To maintain at all times a relationship with the public that gives reality to the 
historic tradition that the police are the public and that the public are the police, 
the police being only members of the public who are paid to give full-time 
attention to duties which are incumbent on every citizen in the interests of 
community welfare and existence. 

8. To recognise always the need for strict adherence to police-executive functions, 
and to refrain from even seeming to usurp the powers of the judiciary of avenging 
individuals or the State, and of authoritatively judging guilt and punishing the 
guilty. 

9. To recognise always that the test of police efficiency is the absence of crime and 
disorder, and not the visible evidence of police action in dealing with them. 

Priorities 

Due to the fact that the 2020 Police and Crime Commissioner elections were delayed 

for a year, my term in office will be only three years instead of the usual four years. This 

Plan is therefore designed to cover two terms of office. Some of the more fundamental 

challenges addressed in my election manifesto will take time to tackle. These I shall list 

below as medium-term priorities. However, there are some issues that I believe can be 

addressed quickly, which shall be labelled as short-term priorities.  

Short-term priorities are as follows: 

8



 

9 
 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to create a larger force of Special Constables 
recruited from our local communities, dedicated to local communities, working 
within local communities and seen as being part of communities; 

 I will work with the Chief Constable to ensure that we place no barriers in the way 
of ensuring that our recruits are the very best of our diverse population and 
representative of the varied communities of Leicester, Leicestershire and 
Rutland;  

 I will ask the Chief Constable to ensure the force is structured to provide an 
outstanding response to rural criminality and wildlife crime in Leicestershire and 
Rutland; 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to dedicate rural crime teams in each of the 
Neighbourhood Policing Areas outside of the City; I will ask the Chief Constable 
to develop a team of specials to be dedicated to policing rural areas to work 
alongside rural crime teams who will be specifically dedicated to Leicestershire 
and Rutland; 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to continue to develop a plan that will build upon 
your community’s safety in relation to: business crime and rural crime 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to develop a role of dedicated business crime leads 
to build better relationships with businesses for each area of the force;  

 We aim to drive down violent crime, including knife crime, to save lives and stop 
the pain suffered by bereaved families. We recognise that action taken to tackle 
knife crime can sometimes lead to an increase in the recording of knife crime, but 
this is a necessary part of the drive to stop the murder of our young people on 
our streets; 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to develop tactics to guarantee a quality of service 
to tackle domestic abuse including more use of body worn cameras, domestic 
violence protection orders/notices and perpetrators programmes designed to 
change offender behaviours; 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to further develop a night time economy strategy 
which drives down violence and makes our streets and premises safer places to 
be; 

 

Medium-term priorities are as follows: 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to develop a Safer Communities Strategy where we 
see more officers and staff routinely working in and around schools, universities, 
youth clubs, festivals and places where groups of people gather; 

 We will seek to refresh the estate strategy to increase police presence across 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland; 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to revitalise the spirit of volunteering and unleash 
the power of communities through more neighbourhood watches, community 
speed watch as well as working more coherently and productively with other 
community groups to tackle quality of life issues; 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to improve the quality of files submitted to the 
Crown Prosecution Service; 

 I will continue to invest in the work of our local Violence Reduction Network 
(VRN). Through collaborating across the system, I will strengthen our response 
by deploying criminal justice responses as well as moving more upstream to 
develop preventative strategies aimed at tackling the root causes of serious 
violence, including knife crime. 

9



 

10 
 

 I will fulfil my role in the new Serious Violence legal duty, supporting CSPs and 
other partners to meet the requirements of the duty as well as monitor the 
effectiveness of local responses. 

 

 

Strategic Policing Requirement  

 

Under the 2011 Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act I am required to have 

regards to the Strategic Policing Requirement (SPR) issues by the Home Secretary 

when issuing or varying my Police and Crime Plan.  

 

The latest SPR issued the following national areas of concern which must be addressed 

by each police force: 

 Terrorism 

 Civil Emergencies 

 Serious and Organised Crime 

 Threats to Public Order 

 a Large-scale Cyber Incident 

 Child Sexual Abuse  

I recognise the importance of recognising this important element of policing and 

therefore as the Police and Crime Commissioner I will fully support the force with their 

responsibilities. 

Finance  

As with all forces across the country the funding for the police remains challenging, 

unpredictable and complex.  

 

For instance, in 2011/12, 70% of the Force’s funding came from Core Grant (central 

government funding) with the balance of 30% coming from the local precept (local 

council tax). At the commencement of 2021/22 this position has changed significantly 

with 58% of the total funding coming from Core Grant and 42% of funding now comes 

directly from the local taxpayer (and related grants).  

 

During the same period the population of Leicestershire, Leicester and Rutland rose by 

10.2%.  

10



 

11 
 

 

The Force continues to face increasing demand with limited resources which puts 

obvious and significant strain upon the overall budget. During the term of this Police and 

Crime Plan I will ensure I maintain oversight of the police budget, present the finances 

of the force on the website to ensure complete transparency and make myself available 

for the Police and Crime Panel to maintain this extra level of scrutiny. I will aim to 

ensure a sustainable future for the Force, avoiding policies of boom and bust.  

 

Chair of East Midlands Criminal Justice Board 

 

I am delighted to have been elected to serve as the Chair of the East Midlands Criminal 

Justice Board (EMCJB). Alongside the police, the criminal justice agencies work 

collectively with a common purpose and with stakeholders, to remove barriers, ensure 

victims, witnesses and those found not guilty needs are met and that high standards of 

services are maintained, as well as tackling crime and reducing offending. The Board is 

a forum to co-ordinate and deliver an efficient and effective criminal justice system (CJS) 

across the East Midlands through partnership working. 

 

During my time as Chair, I will work in partnership to deliver our ambition to: 

 Improve service user and public confidence 

 Provide an efficient and effective service 

 Reduce crime 

 Work to reduce re-offending 

 Rehabilitate offenders 

 Punish offenders 

 Fair sanctions 

 Protect the public and the communities we serve 

 Provide victims with reparation 

 Ensure that the system is just and fair, open and transparent 

 
The EMCJB’s mission statement is ‘Working together to embrace the opportunities and 

benefits of digital working, including the use of video technology, across all parts of 

CJS’. 

11



 

12 
 

 

My Aim is to make the communities of the East Midlands safer, stronger and feel more 

confident about criminal justice, and to improve the quality of life for everyone who lives 

and works in the area by providing, efficient, effective, value for money Criminal Justice 

Services. These aims are strongly linked to the ‘Supporting Victims of Crime’ of my 

plan. 

 

Policing Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 

Set in the heart of England, Leicester, Leicestershire & Rutland covers an area of over 

965 square miles. Its population is estimated to be over a million and is very diverse in 

terms of the communities living in the city and the two counties. Policing such contrasts 

presents a number of challenges. Wherever someone lives, be it in an isolated rural 

community or in a town or Leicester City and whichever background they are from, I 

expect Leicestershire Police to provide a response that is appropriate and of a high 

standard.  

Whilst no two days are the same when it comes to policing, in a 24-hour period 

Leicestershire Police will on average deal with:  

• 435 emergency calls (999)  

• 877 non-emergency calls (101)  

33 incidents created by officers out on patrol 

•  the control room receive 77 emails each day  

   47 referrals are received each day to our Child Protection teams 

    37 crimes are reported on-line  

This will create on average 439 crimes or incident reports, 267 are crime reports, the 

remainder can include third party reports, warrants, court orders, vulnerability reports 

 65 domestic incidents  

 11 burglaries (8 residential, 3 business) 

 14 missing people (14 if viewed as compact records but 18 a day as initial 
incidents) 

 38 incidents of anti-social behaviour  

The Force will, on average:  

 Make 37 arrests 

 Undertake 16 stop searches  

 Receive 1.1 million reads from Automated Number Plate Recognition systems 

12



 

13 
 

 Average Daily social media contacts are: 125 messages into social media 
accounts, 150,000 people reached by posts and 43,000 people signed up to 
Neighbourhood Link email messaging service 

 Current numbers of managed sexual offenders (01/02/22): In the 
community:  1186 and in prison: 289 Prison.  

 Current number of offenders managed by IOM who require additional resources 
to manage: 230 

 

Currently, this workload is delivered by a team of 4126 police officers, police staff and 

police service volunteers.  

Introduction 

 
I want to thank the people of Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland for putting their faith 

in me and my manifesto. My task now is to deliver on the promises that I have made. I 

am immensely privileged to serve the diverse peoples and communities of our city and 

two counties as their Police and Crime Commissioner. It is not a task that I take lightly, 

and I look forward to improving policing, enhancing crime prevention and boosting 

related services over the years to come.  

 

I am proud to call Leicestershire home and proud that we have a Police force and public 

committed to working together to make this the most fantastic county to live, work and 

visit anywhere in the country. 

 

The public has a crucial role, via the Police and Crime Commissioner, in setting the 

local policing priorities and supporting the police in the fight against crime. We must aim 

to pass the standards test set by the great Sir Robert Peel when he founded the modern 

police force nearly two centuries ago. 

 

We have rural and urban communities spread across our city and counties, both with 

unique sets of problems relating to crime. Getting the right priorities that will keep a lid 

on crime, support victims and deter criminals is crucial. I believe that my fundamental 

duties are to cut crime, deter crime, have more visible, more local and more community 

policing for the city and counties that we love. 

 
I believe that my Police and Crime Plan for Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland is 

exactly what is needed to tackle the problems specific to our communities. I will seek to 

tackle the issues at the root cause. I am also looking to work closely with the City, 

County Councils, District/Borough Councils, charities and other representative and 

13



 

14 
 

accountable bodies to provide the sort of crime prevention and victim support measures 

that our law-abiding citizens have a right to expect.   

 

The Police and Crime Plan 

This Police and Crime Plan will set the strategic direction of the Police Force and 
related services in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland.  

I will ensure that the plan is reviewed every two years to ensure the strategic objectives 
and priorities still reflect the needs of all our communities to take into account of new 
and emerging issues for crime and policing.  I will be expecting the Chief Constable to 
develop a separate Delivery Plan for the city of Leicester which will detail the activity the 
Police intend to do to achieve the objectives of this Plan.  

I am clear about what I will require: 

 I want more offenders caught, more crime prevented and to put policing back into 
all our communities.  

 I want partners who work with the police to be inspired so we can protect those at 
risk.  

 I want the police to be connected to the public to mobilise their community spirit.  

 I want the law-abiding public to regard the police as their friends and protectors. 

 I want more compassion and kindness shown to victims of crime and the most 
vulnerable in society. 

 I want officers and staff to be responsive to the needs of the law-abiding public 
as the police keep them and their property safe and secure.  

 I want our police to target those criminals who engage in unlawful activity and 
seek to endanger or disrupt the peace and safety of our communities.  

 I expect the force to look constantly for financial savings, value for money, and 
efficiency in all areas of the business to ensure that maximum funds are 
deployed where they are needed most – into the frontline; 

 I would like to see regular meetings between the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner and rural stakeholders to remain in touch with problems affecting 
our rural communities. 

Officers and staff need strong and effective leadership. I want to see a creative and 
inspiring style of leadership that motivates the workforce and unlocks the potential 
across the force to create a culture of leadership at all levels. As the PCC I will make 
sure that the Chief Constable puts the morale, motivation, health and well-being, the 
equipment, support and leadership to officers and staff as their number an absolute 
priority. The welfare, training and leadership of our officers and staff must come be 
paramount.  
 

Commissioning and Partnership 

The PCC has a crucial role in commissioning other services and working in partnership 
with other agencies to make a more sustained difference in the quality of lives of all our 
communities, particularly those people who are the most vulnerable, the most damaged 

14



 

15 
 

or those people with the greatest need of support. For instance, I want to do more for 
domestic abuse survivors, improving their experience with the police, obtaining greater 
support for them, developing perpetrator intervention programmes and much more.  

The Police and Crime Commissioner has a wider responsibility than those simply 

relating to the Police force, namely:  

  the delivery of community safety and crime reduction;  

 Enhancing victims’ services; 

  the ability to fund and bring together Community Safety Partnerships at 

a force level;  

  a duty to ensure that all collaboration agreements with other local 

policing bodies and forces deliver better value for money and enhance the 

effectiveness of policing capabilities and resilience;  

  the enhancement of the delivery of criminal justice in their area.  

The Criminal Justice System 

 

I believe these wider responsibilities are more critical than ever before. To protect from 

harm is my principle aim but it is equally important to try to do all that we can to prevent 

vulnerable people becoming offenders of the future, ensure we create an environment 

where people can be rehabilitated or participate in restorative justice.  

I believe the role of PCC is to be a strong advocate for justice on behalf of our local 

communities. I will be their voice; I will challenge when it is clear fair justice is not being 

administered. I will challenge the force and wider criminal justice system if victims are 

being let down, this is my duty and a responsibility I will not shirk.  

Our police are our protectors and those who assault them, indeed any of the emergency 

services should know I believe they should be facing the severest of penalties.  

I want to be a PCC who will strengthen our local policing, remaining on the front foot 

when tackling criminals who blight our lives. I want to protect the vulnerable, helping 

victims cope and recover from the effects of crime and abuse and develop plans to 

improve our approach. These measures will give greater opportunity for a fair and just 

society.  

 

Governance and Accountability 

 

15



 

16 
 

One of my primary responsibilities is to hold the Chief Constable to account for how 

policing services are delivered. I want our Police Force to be regarded as one of the top 

forces in the country and the service we provide to local communities needs to be as 

good as it can be.  

As your elected representative and voice of the community I will be relentless in my 

scrutiny and governance of the force. This is not about trying to catch the force out but 

about helping the Chief Constable to drive up standards.  

I will be working with the Chief Constable to develop a governance and accountability 

mechanism which enables me to challenge, check, test and scrutinise in the most 

efficient and streamlined way.  

My main areas of scrutiny will be aligned to this Police and Crime Plan, wider force 

performance, threat, risk and harm, areas for improvement identified by formal 

inspections and importantly how the police budget is deployed.  

I will also be meeting with the Chief Constable on a weekly basis to discuss the 

progress of the force, emerging issues and shorter-term strategic issues which may 

need addressing. 

I will be publishing information and data on the Police and Crime Commissioner website 

at the earliest opportunity during my tenure to ensure complete transparency.  

For the purposes of transparency, but with the exception of exempted decisions, a copy 

of all the decision-making submissions, together with a record of the decision made will 

be published on the OPCC website.  

This will enable members of the public and the Police and Crime Panel members to 

have access to the decision-making function of my role.  

Working together, we will make Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland safer for 

everyone, who lives or works here 

 

Visible Policing 

Because Visible Policing is Effective Policing 

 

I intend to make sure that Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland’s (LLR) police officers 

and staff are more visible in order to actively deter criminals, prevent crime and provide 

more reassurance to residents.  

Community policing is the bedrock of British Policing. It reduces the fear of crime, it 
enhances trust and confidence and puts policing back into our local areas.  

I will put more police into our communities to cut crime and catch criminals and ensure 
that the Police adopt tactics to maximise their visibility. 

16



 

17 
 

I recognise that in order to reduce the fear of crime we need to make our streets safer. 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to continually review where resources are placed 
across the force in order to ensure maximum effectiveness and long-term 
sustainability; 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to move towards making Rutland a Local Policing 
Unit (LPU) in its own right, with personnel, resources and facilities set at an 
appropriate level and provided by Leicestershire Police to meet the needs of 
Rutlanders in cooperation with Leicestershire Police; 

 I will ensure information about the Force and Police and Crime Commissioners 
budgets are accessible via the website;  

 I will ask the Chief Constable to create a larger force of Special Constables in 
LLR recruited from our local communities, dedicated to local communities, 
working within local communities and seen as being part of communities;  

 I will conduct an examination and review of the police estate so that buildings 
and the working environment are more accessible to local people, reflects a 
modern style of policing and supports a culture of openness, transparency and 
value for money; 

 I will support the Chief Constable with effective policies on stop and search, use 
of spit guards and the targeting of the most serious and prolific offenders to put 
more offenders before the courts;  

 I will ask the Chief Constable to develop a strategy to improve the engagement 
and communication between the public in LLR and the police, for example; 
putting the names of local neighbourhood police officers and police community 
support officers on to our website; 

 I will work with the Chief Constable to develop a plan each for LLR so that the 
force increases its channels of communications with the public 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to allocate a liaison officer to each school to portray 
a positive image of the police and of police officers to our younger citizens and 
to help support diversionary and preventative strategies to help prevent young 
people being bullied, exploited or lured into a life of crime 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to increase the reach of the police towards children 
of primary school age to help educate and nurture them to support their 
development and raise awareness of personal and community safety 

These actions mean the force will be better equipped to deal with crime and antisocial 
behaviour. This will enable the force to keep people safe, target those people who are 
engaged in criminal activities. Most importantly it will take our communities and staff 
with me. 

 

Urban policing  

Because our city deserves robust policing  

Policing an urban area such as the centre of Leicester brings its own challenges. With 

thousands of visitors from outside the city every day, a highly active night time economy 

and busy retail areas, Leicester attracts all sorts of human activity – sadly including 

crime.  

17



 

18 
 

 

Some types of crime are particularly high in the city compared to more rural areas. 

Others are of particular concern to certain elements of our diverse community. We must 

recognise that policing needs to be adapted to meet the needs and expectation of our 

diverse communities.  

 

We must develop our policing strategies so that it reflects the dynamics, demographics 

and environment so that it is not a one size fits all. We will ensure our resources are 

aligned to the highest threat, harm and risks we face so that we have a streamlined and 

efficient response to the ever increasing demands the police and public services face. 

Crime driven by alcohol and drug misuse is a particular concern in our city so we must 

deal with this head on. 

 

 I will lobby Her Majesty’s Government for tougher sentences for people who 
carry or use knives; 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to further develop a night-time economy strategy 
which drives down violence and makes our streets and premises a safe place to 
be; 

 I will work with the Chief Constable to ensure the names of the dedicated 
neighbourhood officers are publicised and known to businesses and residents 
within the city centre and surrounding areas; 

 Proceeds of crime-seizures and money will be reinvested into the investigation 
and prevention of a wide variety of offences, such as modern-day slavery and 
other priority areas and illegal working practises; 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to maximise existing online reporting capability to 
ensure a more efficient and cost-effective way to manage crime;  

 I will ask the Chief Constable to continue to be fully engaged in the licensing 
process for licensed premises with a view to reducing alcohol related offending;  

 I will ask the Chief Constable to work with partners to reduce crime and the fear 
of crime on our public transport systems;  

 I will support the work the Chief Constable is doing to reduce the scourge of drug 
misuse, the trafficking of drugs into our city and the combatting of the county 
lines network; 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to work with our regional law enforcement 
colleagues to maximise the effectiveness of our joint intelligence so that we are 
able to target the most serious and prolific offenders; 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to continue to maintain a strong focus upon those 
criminals who are engaged in the illegal supply and distribution of drugs through 
County Lines. 

 

 

These actions will reduce crime and reduce the fear of crime. It will enable the police 

to reinvest our finances and resources in areas where the most vulnerable need us 

most in order to do all that we can to prevent young people from entering a life of crime. 

18



 

19 
 

Rural policing 

Because our countryside matters 

Our rural areas in Leicestershire and Rutland require robust policing. Hare-coursing, 
burglary, dangerous driving, fly tipping, farm robberies, and church lead thefts blight our 
villages and farms. I will put in place a Rural Policing Plan and provide resources to 
tackle the crimes that affect our countryside.  

 I will ask the Chief Constable to ensure the force is structured to provide an 
outstanding response in Leicestershire and Rutland to rural criminality, wildlife 
crime and heritage crime; 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to dedicate rural crime teams to the rural areas of 
Leicestershire and Rutland; 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to update the reporting system to include specific 
rural concerns such as hare coursing, unlicensed fishing, fly grazing, trespass, 
livestock worrying, livestock butchery etc. 

 I will ask the police to work more proactively and visibly in partnership with parish 
councils, neighbourhood watch groups, community speed watch and volunteers 
to enhance and formalise our approach to crime prevention; 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to develop a Rural Crime Strategy to ensure the 
force works seamlessly to support farmers and other rural businesses to protect 
their buildings, land, crops, livestock, animals and equipment;  

 I will ask the Chief Constable to look at the Mounted Volunteers Scheme and 
develop other innovative ways to mobilise our rural communities in the fight 
against crime;  

 I will work with Leicestershire and Rutland County Councils to protect homes and 
businesses across the county; 

 I want police officers, staff and volunteers to work seamlessly together. I will hold 
the Chief Constable to account to ensure the force significantly increases the 
number of watch schemes; 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to ensure 101 call handlers are fully trained so they 
properly understand the impact of rural crime. This is to ensure the initial 
response from the police is professional and engenders trust and confidence; 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to ensure policing resources in the counties such 
as more marked rural-appropriate 4x4 vehicles across the Leicestershire and 
Rutland policing areas; 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to develop a team of specials to be dedicated to 
policing rural areas to work alongside rural crime teams across Rutland; 

 I will work with the Chief Constable to develop a set of minimum standards for 
service delivery in all areas of the force but will include standards specific to rural 
communities; 

 I will work with stakeholders in the community such as local district/borough 
councillors, parish councillors and other accountable community leaders to 
create a formal mechanism for meaningful dialogue to meet rural community 
needs and expectations. This will include working closely with Leicestershire and 
Rutland County Councils across the whole range of provision by the police and 
PCC; 

 I will work with the Chief Constable to refresh and develop an estates strategy 
which will increase the police footprint in Leicestershire and Rutland. I will reopen 

19



 

20 
 

a police station accessible to the public in Rutland to assist with supporting 
greater police visibility across the county; 

 I will develop a mobile technology strategy which will enhance the visibility of 
officers and staff in rural areas;  

 I will champion our volunteering schemes in Leicestershire and Rutland and seek 
to increase the community contribution by 25% to include:  

  Making it easier to set up schemes in local areas  

  Improving communications, accessibility and information sharing 
between the police and partners on quality-of-life issues in the local area 
so schemes are well informed about police and partner  

  Developing ways to make schemes have more impact in their 
communities  

  Develop an investment plan in equipment for distribution in local areas 
such as speed guns or more community vehicles etc,  

 I will champion Community Speed Watch initiatives in Leicestershire and Rutland 
by investing in equipment, training and force support.  

These actions will give a strong voice to our rural communities. My commitment to all 
communities must not be divisive or create inequality of service delivery. Our rural areas 
will feel more valued and listened to and most importantly send a clear message to 
criminals that they should stay away from our countryside.  

High tech policing 

Because Technology can take our Force to the next level  

I want our police to have the best equipment, the most up to date technology and the 
most modern tools so they remain on the front foot when catching criminals and the 
most sophisticated offenders.  

I will ensure that officers and staff have access to the IT they need to carry out their 
duties. I want the force to upgrade technology and equipment to support officers/staff 
and the environment. I will nurture and encourage innovation, creativity and imagination 
so we can operate in an environment of continuous improvement. 

I will not constrain our thinking about how we will protect our communities in a more 
sustainable way. As the PCC I will aim to cut pollution, reduce the police carbon 
footprint, maximise the opportunity to use renewable energy and make sure we use our 
police land to help care for our wildlife.  

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Police can make a difference.  

 I will undertake an urgent review of the police vehicle procurement policy to 
see if it is possible to purchase replacements that are more environmentally 
friendly than the current vehicles 

20



 

21 
 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to develop a strategy to increase the number of 
electric and hydrogen police vehicles so they are able to be deployed as soon 
as realistically possible  

 I will review the police estate to ascertain the potential to install solar panels on 
police buildings to reduce the police carbon footprint and ensure we minimise 
waste and increase recycling.  

 I will ask the Chief Constable and the force to reduce unnecessary travelling by 
changing the culture of how we do our business, take the learning of the global 
pandemic to communicate and meet through improved use of technology  

 I will enhance performance by ensuring technology enabled information, data 
and intelligence is at the fingertips of all the police officers and staff 

 I will work with our partners to explore opportunities for better communication for 
the benefit of our local communities. Sharing information is often a barrier in 
fighting crime and keeping people safe but I will do as much as possible to 
improve this position; 

 I will work towards ensuring the force has the most modern technology to prevent 
such crimes as cyber-crime and on-line child abuse; and to support the reduction 
of online bullying and antisocial behaviour  

 I will ask the Chief Constable to work closely with other government agencies, 
such as the Border Force and the National Crime Agency to tackle the rise of 
vehicle and livestock theft and smuggling; 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to have due regard for the need to work across 
county lines in many rural areas, and to encourage information sharing and co-
operation across County boundaries; 

 Tasers will not be rationed for uniformed officers – I will ask the Chief Constable 
to develop a plan so that every officer who wants to carry one and who has 
successfully completed the necessary training will have access to one; 

 I will conduct a review of the technology being used in the force so that I am able 
to ensure the force is equipped to be as hi-tech and innovative as possible. We 
will plan for the next generation technology to future proof our services 

 I will seek to improvements in the use of mobile technology, the use of data and 
digital solutions 

 I want to see an expansion of the force’s drone capabilities 

These actions will unlock the potential of the force through technology; it will improve 
the force response to crime and anti-social behaviour and enable them to target the 
most serious and prolific offenders. Communities will be safer and the environment will 
be cleaner. 

 

 

 

Local neighbourhood policing  

Because People live in Neighbourhoods 

Neighbourhood officers in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland should be our best 
officers and staff who are equipped and trained to a high level. They need to be 

21



 

22 
 

influential, effective and visible and exemplary at communicating and consulting with the 
community.  

LLR officers and staff will inspire and motivate local people and partners, will be 
dedicated and accessible to the diverse communities that they serve, know who the 
local criminals are, build up the local intelligence picture and provide reassurance to 
local people. 

It is important to recognise the importance of local neighbourhood policing for areas that 
are neither rural nor in the city. Urban town centres and face the same crime and ASB 
challenges as the City, such as Serious Violence, CCE, CSE, crime driven by alcohol 
and drug misuse, trafficking of drugs and county lines. My plan will help to develop a 
policing strategy that reflects the dynamics, demographics, and environment of your 
local area. 

 I will work with the Chief Constable to increase the status of local neighbourhood 
officers in Leicester who are very often doing an incredibly difficult role. I will 
ensure they have a local identity of which they can be proud; 

 I will work with the Chief Constable to encourage neighbourhood officers stay in 
their local communities for at least two years to be able to capitalise on their local 
knowledge and reliable relationships with stakeholders and the public; 

 I will work with the Chief Constable to ascertain how the police will improve the 
training of local officers and staff, ensure they have the correct skills and 
personal qualities, are technology competent and have a sense of belonging to 
the local communities as well as be identifiable by their local communities; 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to develop a strategy and delivery plan for 
neighbourhood policing so there is an operational plan for each of the areas 
across the force; 

 All residents in LLR will be treated professionally and fairly in line with their 
needs, with sensitivity and respect regardless of their background. To this end I 
will put in place quality of service surveys so that we see regular and consistent 
improvement in policing to communities. 

These actions will bring our local policing to life, energise relationships with the public 

in our diverse communities, create community spirit and boost community value by 

working together, which will in turn improve trust and confidence in our police. 

 

 

 

 

Community Policing  

Because the People should have a voice 

I want to help create a Police Force which is renowned for the way it communicates with 
the public, employees and our partners. When people ring the police or come into 

22



 

23 
 

contact with our officers and staff, I want them to feel as though they have had a high-
quality service, they have confidence in them and most importantly they trust the police.  

I want to ensure we have the channels of communication which meet the needs of all 
our diverse communities.  

Throughout my tenure I will do all that I am able to keep listening to all our communities 
so that I am able to help tailor the service which meets the public expectations.  

In order to achieve this aspiration, we will continue to improve our communication with 
the public.  

 I will ask the Chief Constable to look at communications across the force so that 
improvements can be made, I will require better two-way communication as well 
as keeping people informed of operational activity if appropriate; 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to ensure that there is regular reporting to City and 
County Councillors and other accountable community groups by local officers; 

 I will work with the Chief Constable to harness the support of local people, 
including through better use of social media to support the police; 

 I will do all that I am able to support and protect our ecology and local 
wildlife by developing our approach to police estate management; 

 I will work with partners and other youth engagement agencies to help divert 
young people away from a life of crime;  

 I will work with the Chief Constable to develop a communication strategy to reach 
out more effectively to the public, including the use of technology to enhance and 
develop technology-based public communication and consultation channels; 

 I will be one of the most accessible PCCs so communities can hold me to 
account and influence the policing approach. I will regularly host public meetings, 
surveys, visits and other activity to listen, learn and respond; 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to ensure that 101 calls and other services are 
accessible and fit for service particularly relating to business and rural crime, 
especially in emergencies; 

 I will seek to ensure that each beat produces a monthly bulletin for distribution to 
councillors, community leaders, neighbourhood watch groups and others.  

 The police and OPCC will work to ensure free and fair elections as these are 
essential to the proper functioning of our democratic society; 

 I will work with the Chief Constable to find a way for neighbourhood officers to be 
able to capitalise on their local knowledge and reliable relationships with 
stakeholders and the public; 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to develop a strategy and delivery plan for 
neighbourhood policing so there is an operational plan for each of the areas 
across the force; 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to review the access to the Police to ensure it is as 
easy and seamless as possible for the public.   

These actions will increase confidence and provide reassurance to our communities 
through effective communications and engagement with our public. 

 

Protecting Business  

23



 

24 
 

Because we need to Build Back Better 

Business crime destroys jobs, undermines communities and reduces prosperity. We 
need to make sure our response to business crime is exactly what people require.  

There are now many ways businesses can be ruined. These may include organised 
crime gangs targeting them, local criminals preying on them or international villains 
engaged in cybercrime who are no longer constrained by national or international 
boundaries.  

 I will ask the Chief Constable to develop a role of dedicated business crime leads 
to build better relationships with business for each area of the force;  

 I will develop a dialogue with businesses to ensure they are engaged in identifying 
and resolving local problems; 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to develop a problem-solving approach to business 
crime to reduce crime in high demand areas;  

 I will ask the Chief Constable to work with businesses to train and develop their 
staff to enable them to safely intervene, challenge and prevent crime from 
happening; 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to improve channels of communication for the 
reporting of business crime and intelligence;  

 I will ask the Chief Constable to improve online reporting capability to create a 
more efficient and cost-effective way to manage crime;  

 I will ask the Chief Constable to develop a cadre of specialist business 
cybercrime officers to help educate and protect businesses; 

 I will develop stronger business relationships to work more effectively together 
with the police to tackle online cyber and more traditional crimes 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to continue to provide foot patrols in high-footfall 
retail areas to deter retail crime.  

 I will ask the Chief Constable to identify national best practice or innovation from 
other forces to drive down crime, particularly related to organised theft of heavy 
farm or manufacturing equipment. 

 

These actions will help us protect business and our local economy.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Curbing Violent Crime 

Because Peaceful Communities are Safer Communities.  

24



 

25 
 

  

Tackling violent crime requires bold action against those who use violence and to 

address the underlying causes of violence in our society. Early year settings, schools, 

families and communities need to be centre-stage to this work given the invaluable role 

they all play in creating the conditions that we know prevent children and young people 

getting involved in violence.  

  

 I will work with partners to share data about the extent, nature and causes of 
violence so that the right interventions can be deployed at the right time and in 
the right place and reach those most at risk;   

 I will do all that I am able to ensure interventions reach young people already 
affected by violence in the places they are most likely to accept support; 

 I will support the partnership investment in community responses to preventing 
and reducing serious violence; 

 I will work in partnership with all other agencies and communities to maximise the 
opportunities to reduce crime and anti-social behaviour. I will ensure I hold the 
Community Safety Partnerships to account and that accountability will be 
commensurate with the funding offered from my office; 

 The PCC has a power of accountability over CSPs and must encourage joint 
working on mutual priorities, and ensure that the PCC priorities are tackled at the 
local level, and the CSP priorities are reflected and resourced. 

 I am committed to developing a sustainable strategy for the reduction of crime 
and anti-social behaviour through CSPs 

 I will work with partners, including the City and County Councils, District/Borough 
Councils and Community Safety Partnerships and East Midlands Ambulance 
Service (EMAS) on delivering on the PCC’s prescribed role to provide support 
with the development and implementation of strategies as well as monitoring the 
effectiveness of them. I will ask for a particular emphasis on violence against 
women and girls; 

 I will advocate strong evidence-based policing based upon what works and 
national best practice; 

 I will advocate strong evidence-based policing based upon what works, 
academia and national best practice;  

 I will ask the Chief Constable to ensure the force is able to identify victims and 
those at risk of victimisation to develop safeguarding strategies; 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to identify those offenders who present the highest 
risk and act robustly to reduce their offending;  

 I will work with the Chief Constable and other stakeholders to support the victim’s 
experience through the criminal justice system 

 I will work to ensure that those at risk of a life of crime can be identified so that 
intervention and rehabilitation services can be commissioned and be effective.  

These actions will create greater coherence and help develop a longer-term strategy 

to reduce violence and enable our collective efforts to protect people from harm.  

 

 

25



 

26 
 

Supporting Victims of Crime  

Because Victims Matter  

I will ask the force to be outstanding at responding to and preventing domestic abuse, 
sexual offences, exploitation, modern day slavery, hate crime and abuse of the elderly.  

 I will commission victim’s services to ensure victims of crime are provided with 
exemplary support at a time of crisis; 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to ensure the force culture and service delivery 
results in a victim centred approach; 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to develop a suite of operational approaches to 
protect vulnerable people who are exploited by ruthless crime gangs;  

 I will ask the Chief Constable to develop a suite of operational approaches to 
identify and target the most prolific and serious offenders tackle the harm caused 
by burglary, drugs and knife crime;  

 I will ask the Chief Constable to develop tactics to guarantee a quality of service 
to tackle domestic abuse including more use of body worn cameras, domestic 
violence protection orders/notices and perpetrators programmes designed to 
change offender behaviours; 

 Work to develop a partnership response to reduce the harm, risks and costs of 
domestic abuse, child abuse and exploitation (including child sexual exploitation), 
serious sexual offences, trafficking and modern-day slavery and ‘Violence 
Against Women and Girls’ which keeps victims safe from future victimisation. 

 More emphasis on prevention through initiatives such as SWAN funding; 

 Aim to reduce incidents of violence against women and girls (VAWG) in public 
spaces at night, including in the night-time economy; 

 Ensure that the force works to reduce the fear of VAWG and improve feelings of 
safety in public spaces at night, including in the night-time economy. 

These actions will ensure the most serious offenders are targeted so that they have a 

very real fear of being caught for their crimes.  

 

  

 Partnerships, Collaboration and Joint Ventures 

Because a burden shared is a burden reduced 

 

The modern era of British Policing means that the demands we face are ever more 

stretching, diverse and complex. In order to be able to effectively respond to those 

complexities we have to join forces with other agencies, fire services and law 

enforcement organisations and deepen our ties with our Community Safety 

Partnerships, to increase our capacity and capability so that front line policing in our 

local areas can remain strong. 

 

26



 

27 
 

The relationship at a local, regional and national level remains resilient and I will do all 

that I am able to support this crucial part of our policing requirement.   

 

These partnerships and joint working have stood the test of time and we will support 

them so they can flourish to enable us to tackle the sophisticated crime networks which 

blight our society.  

 

 

 I will continue to support the force and the work undertaken by our Regional 
Organised Crime Unit to ensure we are able to continue to identify, disrupt and 
dismantle organised crime groups who are operating in the region; 

 I will continue to support the regional collaborations which increase the force 
capacity and capability to tackle the most serious offenders; 

 I will continue to look at opportunities for the Chief Constable and OPCC to work 
with other forces and criminal justice agencies to improve the response to crime 
and quality of life issues; 

 Road safety and speeding began to dominate many conversations at town and 
parish council meetings. I will give support to the Road Safety Partnership and 
Community Speed Watch groups seeking to improve safety in towns and 
villages; 

 I will work with and challenge all the criminal justice partners to ensure that we 
improve our collective service to the public  

 I will help develop a set of strategic and operational objectives for all parties 
within the Criminal Justice Board, define what is required and agree on the 
activities to deliver them in relation to PSD investigations; 

 I will work with the Chief Constable to develop a performance strategy within the 
Professional Standards Department so that officers and staff are dealt with 
equitably, fairly and in a timely manner; 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to ensure the timeliness and review of case files for 
charging decisions, as set out by the Crown Prosecution Service Directors 
Guidance, is a priority; 

 I will ensure that I scrutinise the performance of all the parties within the Criminal 
Justice Board to ensure the service to victims, witnesses and the public is of a 
high quality; 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to improve the quality of files submitted to the 
Crown Prosecution Service;  

 

 

These actions will increase the capacity and capability of the force to enable them to 

be able to effectively respond to the ever-increasing demands facing the service. 

Creating a partnership and collaborative approach means that local officers and staff 

are freed up to deliver local policing.  

 

27



 

28 
 

 

 

 

 

Protecting our Personnel 

Because High Morale creates Dynamic Policing  

There are many ways to increase the capacity, capability and productivity of our police 
force. I am committed to maximising and increasing the policing in our areas so I will be 
encouraging more team work, collaboration and working in partnership. I want to see 
more co-operation between the police, local authorities and other agencies. 

I want to ensure that our police officers and staff feel confident, supported, trusted and 
empowered to make a difference. The health and wellbeing of officers and staff is very 
important to me. It is really simple; a healthy and vibrant force will mean a more 
productive and effective force.  

I want the Police to be on the front foot when tackling criminality and those dangerous 
people who jeopardise our safety.  

 I will ask the Chief Constable to develop a performance strategy so that I am able 
to ensure that the officers and staff are dealt with equitably, fairly and in a timely 
manner; 

 I will work to make the occupational health and wellbeing services as modern, 
effective and high quality as possible; 

 I will ensure my accountability and monitoring of the Chief Constable and the 
force is transparent and open to scrutiny by the public via the Police and Crime 
Commissioner’s website; 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to ensure the officers and staff are among the best 
equipped, skilled and trained in the country; 

 I will maintain a focus upon leadership and hold the Chief Constable to account 
for the quality of leadership of all leaders under his/her command; 

 I will ask the force to manage, monitor and improve the moral and motivation for 
all colleagues in the force; 

 I will scrutinise the Chief Constable on the methods used to reduce crime in all 
the key crime categories (which will be agreed with the Chief Constable) and 
increase the detection rates for the key crime categories; 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to maintain the accuracy of crime and incident 
recording; 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to develop an effective strategy so that the force 
can understand, measure and improve the quality of service it provides to victims 
and witnesses; 

 I will develop a programme for hosting and training interns and create work 
experience opportunities for young people.  

28



 

29 
 

These actions will improve the capacity and capability of Leicestershire Police to help 
them deal with the insatiable demands they are facing. Greater partnership, 
collaboration and interagency working will help create solutions for wicked problems of 
today but will make our streets and homes safer in the future. 

 

 

 

Getting the most out of our partnerships 

Because co-operation needs to be effective.  

Partnership should be at the core of developing sustainable crime reduction plans, 
improving people’s lives and making communities safer. I believe the police should 
adopt a collaborative style, integrate services and build equitable and trusting 
partnerships. Our most important and productive partnership should be with the local 
communities so we collectively work together to improve the quality of people’s lives.  

 I will ask the Chief Constable and partners to ensure multiagency safeguarding is 
a priority for all involved. It is only through a co-ordinated response we can catch 
the criminals who prey on our young people and the vulnerable;  

 I will help equip these community groups with the support, training and resources 
that they need to operate effectively; 

 I will work with partners and the Chief Constable to ensure victims of crime are 
better supported through specialist services; 

 I will develop a strategy which will enable my office and the force to positively 
respond to the Government Review of the Role of Police and Crime 
Commissioners; 

 I will work with the police and our partners to create a seamless, simplified and 
coordinated approach to divert as many people as possible away from harmful 
lifestyles; 

 We will work closely with the City, County Councils, District/Borough Councils 
and Community Safety Partnerships to seek to achieve our shared aims; 

 I will work with the force and our partners to create organisational partnership 
structures which are led from the top, streamlined and built upon the principle of 
delivery; 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to develop sustainable strategies for the reduction 
of crime and antisocial behaviour through our effective Community Safety 
Partnerships; 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to develop a problem-solving approach so we will 
develop improved inter agency intelligence sharing, evidenced based 
interventions and a more joined up approach with our communities; 

 I will ask the Chief Constable to develop a more sophisticated approach to 
problem solving, developing an understanding of how to develop plans with all 
our partners, communities and volunteers. 

29



 

30 
 

These actions will ensure there is a collective approach to developing long term 
sustainable solutions to quality-of-life issues. Making a difference with the community 
and our partners.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contact Us: 

 

You can contact my office in the following ways: 

 

 Via the website         www.leics.pcc.police.uk 

 By email                    police.commissioner@leics.pcc.pnn.gov.uk 

 By phone                   0116 2298980           

 By post                    Office of the Police & Crime Commissioner 
Police Headquarters 

St John’s 

Enderby 

Leicester 

LE19 2BX 

 On Twitter                @LeicsPCC 

 On Facebook           @LeicsPCC 
 

Please note we are unable to take details of crimes or incidents. If you need to contact 

the police please either call 999 if it is an emergency, or 101 if it is a non-emergency. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

30

http://www.leics.pcc.police.uk/
mailto:police.commissioner@leics.pcc.pnn.gov.uk


 

31 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 

 

What the public want 

Because we must have policing by consent 

 

Policing by consent is one of the great British traditions that has made our police the 

envy of the world.  

 

During Autumn 2021, I undertook one of the largest public consultation of any PCC to 

date. Members of the public across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland received a 

leaflet briefly outlining my vision for Policing and signposting to the PCC website where 

they could find a draft of my Police and Crime Plan. 

 

Right from the start, I did not want a consultation of the bare minimum. I wanted as wide 

a consultation as possible to engage the public, give them a say on what they want to 

see from their local police force and make sure that my plan is aligned with what the 

people of Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland want and need. 

I asked what type of crimes matter most to you:  it asks about victim support and violent 
crime, as well as people’s priorities for policing and support in their local community.   

The results of this survey will influence my new Police and Crime Plan, which sets out 
the strategy for the police for the next three or four years. 

31



 

32 
 

This was an ambitious plan that saw thousands of responses. 95.3% of respondents 

completed the survey and it was remarkable to see how unified the suggestions in the 

comment box at the end of my survey were. The agreed with me that people deserve 

and want to see a stronger police presence, that VAWG and its victims need to be more 

of a priority 

 

Outline of the survey 

 

The survey was launched and communicated to the public via the following 

methods:  

 Press releases containing a link to the survey and wider background were 
distributed to local media;  

 Social media posts on the Commissioner’s Facebook and Twitter accounts 
signposting to the press release, wider narrative and survey link; 

 Leaflets to all LLR Postcodes signposting residents to the website 

Public Consultation  

The survey, which was available via the PCC website, was launched on 27th 

September 2021 and was available for four weeks until 18th October 2021.  

Entitled ‘This is YOUR chance to influence the Police and Crime Plan 2021’, the online 

survey (as shown above) asked specific questions to solicit the public’s views on the 

draft priorities and whether they thought the police could do anything differently.  

By conducting such a wide consultation, it gave groups of all backgrounds the chance to 

have their say on my plan. I did not want anyone to be left out or to not have had the 

opportunity to have their voice heard. The people are my boss and hold me to account 

and it’s their views that matter to me. 

 

Elected Representative Consultation  

 

I met regularly with Councillors both district and county since taking office to understand 

what the crime problems in their wards are and what they would like to see. In addition 

to this, the Chair of the Police and Crime Panel received an early draft of my plan on 

30th July and subsequent drafts of my plan.  

 

On 30th July, MPs also received my early draft so that their comments and constituents’ 

concerns could be taken into account in later iterations of my plan. 

 

32



 

33 
 

Leicestershire Police Consultation 

 

As Commissioner, I have a statutory duty to consult the Chief Constable in preparing 

the draft Plan. The Chief Constable received my first draft on 30th July, also. The Chief 

Constable shared this with his Chief Officer Team and there has been ongoing 

engagement and dialogue with the Chief Constable and his Chief Officer Team since. 

The OPCC has worked with colleagues in the Force to ensure the Plan is deliverable 

and effective. 

 

Public Consultation  

 

In line with my priority areas for tackling crime and creating safer communities, the 

public survey asked these questions:  

1. How important is it to have more visible policing? 
2. How important do you think investing in the best technology for our police is? 
3. How important is community policing to you? 
4. How important do you think it is that we have more support for victims of crime? 
5. How important is it to have more robust urban and rural policing? 
6. How important is it for businesses to have protection from crime? 
7. How important do you think it is to work with key community stakeholders to 

reduce crime? 
8. How important is it that we have more co-operation between the police, local 

authorities and other agencies? 
9. Any other comments box: 

“Please include anything you think should be included in the plan that is not already 

included.” 

 

‘Importance’ questions 

Eight questions in the format of ‘How important is it to ____ ?’ were put to respondents. 

Respondents selected a number between 1 and 10, with 10 being the most important.  

For every question of this type, the majority of respondents answered ’10’. Two 

questions in particular saw a significant majority respond ‘10’, these were: ‘How 

important is it to have more visible policing?’ to which 53% (954) of respondents 

answered 10, and ‘How important is community policing to you?’ to which 50.5% (899) 

of respondents answered ‘10’.  

Just under 50% of respondents marked 10 for ‘more robust urban and rural policing’ 

and ‘more co-operation between the police, local authorities and other agencies’. 

33



 

34 
 

I also included a final “any other comments box” where residents could be open and 

broad with me about what they think. This box and required free text responses and 

therefore qualitative analysis could be undertaken on the responses.  

There was strong support for the key themes outlined in my draft plan and in the leaflet 

delivered to household. Namely, Visible policing, rural policing, community policing and 

support for victims. The key themes from comment box, in relation to what, if anything, 

the public would like the police to do differently and priority areas, are shown below: 

 

Most common trends in correspondence collated from both the suggestion box 

section of the survey and public correspondence are as below: 

 

The strongest message from the public was around visibility of police officers which, 

from the comments made, is strongly linked into accessibility. Taken together this 

means the public want to see more police officers on patrol, particularly in rural towns 

and villages, and for the Force to be more accessible in terms of the public being able to 

feed in concerns, reporting issues within their communities and gaining feedback after 

reporting a crime or suspicious activity.  

134
128

108

95

81
74

58

46

24 22 18 15 14

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

Ti
m

es
 m

en
ti

o
n

ed
 b

y 
u

n
iq

u
e 

re
sp

o
n

d
en

ts

Frequency of issues mentioned

34



 

35 
 

 

Issues to be addressed identified through the consultation, not surprisingly, cover a 

huge range of matters many of which are not for the police to solve alone. The Plan will 

need to articulate how the police and other partners are listening to the public and 

working with them to act on their concerns and supporting them to assist themselves. 

This will require support for partnership working while building on evidence about where 

there are most problems whether it is rural or business crime, anti-social behaviour or 

speeding. Strong partnership working is crucial and needs to be at the heart of the new 

approach. Developed with Community Safety Partnerships and local authorities, the 

way public services, charities and communities work together to reduce and prevent 

offending can be strengthened, bringing together efforts across the community to work 

towards shared long-term outcomes.  

Further partnership work is needed to understand and tackle the root causes of crime 

and serious violence through early intervention and rehabilitating people who have 

offended, while reducing opportunities for people to commit crime. A comprehensive 

approach to prevention is required, from early intervention with children and young 

people to prevent problems occurring in the first place; Page 15 of 27 through to early 

intervention when young people and adults first come into contact with the criminal 

justice system; right through to rehabilitating those already more entrenched in the 

criminal justice system; and prevention measures to reduce opportunities to commit 

crime.  

 

The Plan will need actions to ensure vulnerable people are supported and that victims 

and witnesses are at the heart of the criminal justice system, reflecting that what victims 

want when they report a crime isn’t exceptional; they want someone to listen to them, 

take them seriously and take positive action. They want to be kept safe, and kept 

updated on the investigation. They don’t want to wait months or years to see their 

offender taken to court – they want to be supported by specialist and experienced staff 

to recover from the experience. When agencies change the way they do things they 

want to them think how it could impact on them.  

 

Ensuring the police act fairly, with integrity and in the best interests of the public is key 

to gaining public trust and confidence in the Force. The Plan will need to explain actions 

to ensure the police ‘do the right thing in the right way’ and how the Commissioner will 

hold the Chief Constable to account for having processes in place to ensure policing 

principles and standards of professional behaviour are embedded in everyday policing. 

It will also include how the Force can ensure environmental sustainability as to how it 

can work differently now and in the future.  

 

35



 

36 
 

While crime prevention is key, when crime does happen the police are there to uphold 

the law to keep Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland safe. This theme will highlight the 

key role that police officers and staff have in upholding the law, but also that this takes 

place in partnership with other agencies within the criminal justice system and beyond. 

From a multi-agency problem-solving approach to tackling crime and anti-social 

behaviour in our local communities; through to pursuing those people who commit a lot 

of crime in our communities such as burglary, robbery and theft; monitoring those who 

present a serious risk of harm in our communities; and tackling serious and organised 

crime 

Working together, we will make Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland safer for everyone 

who lives, works or visits here. 

 
 

 
 

 

36


	Agenda
	3 PROPOSED POLICE AND CRIME PLAN 2021 TO 2025

